

Nonclinical Overview

Drug Substance

Brilique

Version ID.

001811475

Date

16 January 2014

2.4 Addendum to Nonclinical Overview

Author(s)

This submission /document contains trade secrets and confidential commercial information, disclosure of which is prohibited without providing advance notice to AstraZeneca and opportunity to object.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE

TITLE PA	AGE	1
2.4.1.	OVERVIEW OF THE NONCLINICAL TESTING STRATEGY	4
2.4.2.	PHARMACOLOGY	4
2.4.2.1 2.4.2.1.1	Primary Pharmacology Non-platelet effects of P2Y ₁₂ inhibition	
2.4.2.2 2.4.2.2.1 2.4.2.2.2 2.4.2.2.3 2.4.2.2.4 2.4.2.2.5	Secondary Pharmacology. Selectivity against other P2 receptor subtypes. Adenosine transporter (ENT1) inhibition. General selectivity. Pharmacological relevance of ENT1 inhibition. Other in vitro and in vivo pharmacodynamic observations.	6 6 7
2.4.2.3 2.4.2.3.1 2.4.2.3.2	General Pharmacology Reversal of anti-platelet effect Effect in animal models of atherosclerosis, restenosis, stroke, cancer and sepsis	8
2.4.2.4 2.4.2.4.1 2.4.2.4.2 2.4.2.4.3	Pharmacodynamic drug interactions Potential interaction with aspirin Potential interaction with clopidogrel and cangrelor Potential interaction with rivaroxaban 1	9
2.4.3.	PHARMACOKINETICS1	0
2.4.3.1	Absorption1	0
2.4.3.2	Distribution1	0
2.4.3.3	Metabolism1	1
2.4.3.4	Excretion1	1
2.4.3.5	Drug Interactions	1
2.4.4.	TOXICOLOGY1	2
2.4.4.1	Juvenile toxicity1	3
2.4.4.2	Investigative Toxicity Studies	4
2.4.5.	INTEGRATED OVERVIEW AND CONCLUSIONS1	5
2.4.6.	LIST OF LITERATURE CITATIONS	5

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Potency of ticagrelor and its metabolites, in vitro	4
Table 2	Non-P2Y12 activities of ticagrelor and AR-C124910XX in vitro	7
Table 3	Nonclinical Toxicology Studies with ticagrelor	3

2.4.1. OVERVIEW OF THE NONCLINICAL TESTING STRATEGY

A comprehensive nonclinical package, including pharmacology, safety pharmacology, pharmacokinetics, and toxicology studies, supported the original Marketing Authorization Application (MAA) of ticagrelor.

This addendum includes data from internal AstraZeneca studies conducted with ticagrelor during the past 5 years since submission of the original MAA (22-October-2009 to 8-November-2014). A review of the published literature has also been conducted (Embase, Medline, Knowledge Discovery Platform).

2.4.2. PHARMACOLOGY

In the following sections, 19 nonclinical pharmacology studies conducted with ticagrelor by the Sponsor are summarized along with information from the literature. These information include but are not limited to reports and published papers 1) validating equilibrative nucleoside transporter (ENT) 1 inhibition as an additional clinically relevant target of ticagrelor, 2) exploring potential mechanistic explanations regarding an interaction between ticagrelor and aspirin, 3) exploring different strategies to reverse the anti-platelet effect of ticagrelor, and 4) exploring the effects of ticagrelor in animal models of atherosclerosis, restenosis, stroke, cancer and sepsis.

2.4.2.1 Primary Pharmacology

The original MAA included studies that defined the primary pharmacologic mechanism of action of ticagrelor, P2Y₁₂ antagonism. A limited number of additional primary pharmacology studies have been conducted and some data has been published in the past five years. The relative potency of ticagrelor, its major circulating metabolite AR-C124910XX and the major metabolite excreted in urine, AR-C133913XX have been explored in *in vitro* P2Y₁₂ receptor binding and signaling assays (AZMR10095) as well as in *in vitro* whole blood ADP-induced aggregation assays using blood from healthy human subjects, and the two toxicology species, rats and marmosets (AZMR10112). In these studies, performed by the Sponsor, ticagrelor and AR-C124910XX showed similar potency whereas AR-C133913XX had low or no potency, see Table 1.

Table 1 Potency of ticagrelor and its metabolites, in vitro

	IC ₅₀ (mean±SD)					
	Receptor binding	Receptor signalling	ADP-induced aggregation (μM)			
Compound	[125I]- [35S]-GTPgS AZ11931285 (nM) binding (nM)		Human Rat Marmoset			
Ticagrelor	11±8 (n=63)	66 ±28 (n=98)	0.24 (n=4)	0.13 (n=5)	0.12 (n=3)	
AR-C124910XX	6.5 (n=2)	50 (n=2)	0.17 (n=4)	0.06 (n=5)	0.06 (n=3)	
AR-C133913XX	2500	10000 (n=1)	>10 (n=4)	>10 (n=4)	1.91 (n=4)	

Co-crystals of the P2Y₁₂ receptor in complex with both a P2Y₁₂ antagonist, AZD1283, and a P2Y₁₂ agonist, 2-methylthioadenosine diphosphate, have been published (Zhang et al 2014a, Zhang et al 2014b). These new co-crystal data are compatible with the previously published two binding site model where ticagrelor has been proposed to bind to one site and ADP to another site on the receptor (van Giezen et al 2009). A published *in vitro* study using different functional assays concluded that ticagrelor has a competitive mode of antagonism vs P2Y₁₂-receptors activated by ADP (Hoffman et al 2014). However, these functional data do not contradict the non-competitive binding mode of action previously reported for ticagrelor vs. ADP (van Giezen et al 2009).

Two Sponsor conducted studies relevant to the potential use of ticagrelor in paediatric populations have been performed. First, the anti-platelet *in vitro* potency of ticagrelor was approximately three times greater in whole blood from neonatal rats than from adult rats (AZMR10213). However, this apparent increased *in vitro* potency in blood from neonatal rats did not translate into human as a later study comparing the *in vitro* potency of ticagrelor in blood from children (0 to 12 years) with blood from adults found no evidence of the *in vitro* potency of ticagrelor being different in children than in adults (BS000096-01).

A number of publications have highlighted the role for P2Y₁₂ in thrombus formation and the anti-thrombotic effect of ticagrelor. P2Y₁₂ inhibition by ticagrelor inhibited thrombus formation (laser-injured cremasteric arterioles) to the same extent as seen in P2Y₁₂ deficient mice (Patil et al 2010). Ticagrelor also disrupted the stability of newly formed platelet aggregates *in vitro*, promoting disaggregation, and reversed thrombotic vascular occlusion *in vivo* in a mouse arterial thrombosis model (FeCl₃-injury) (Speich et al 2014). Acute plaque rupture in ApoE deficient mice by ultrasound treatment provoked rapid formation of non-occlusive thrombi, which were smaller in size and unstable in the presence of ticagrelor (Nergiz-Unal et al 2010). In the same study, when mouse or human blood was perfused over collagen or atherosclerotic plaque material *in vitro*, ticagrelor reduced the thrombus formation and increased platelet disaggregation at high shear rates. Finally, the recovery of platelet function after ticagrelor differs mechanistically from that after the thienopyridine clopidogrel. Thus as the recovery of platelet function of the direct acting and reversibly binding antagonist ticagrelor requires elimination of drug, whilst recovery of platelet function following cessation

of an irreversible antagonist such as clopidogrel require formation of new platelets. As the active metabolite of clopidogrel is only detectable for about 4h in the circulation, theoretically the newly formed platelets will not be exposed and should thus be un-inhibited whereas the remaining ticagrelor will redistribute, due to its reversibly binding mode of action, to inhibit the old and the newly formed platelets to a similar extent.

This difference is masked by conventional platelet aggregation methods, but is revealed by thrombus formation measurement under flow. Juvenile platelets formed at later time points after clopidogrel treatment promoted thrombus formation (Kuijpers et al 2011).

2.4.2.1.1 Non-platelet effects of P2Y₁₂ inhibition

The previously published ability of ticagrelor to inhibit ADP-induced vasoconstriction mediated by vascular smooth muscle cell expressing P2Y₁₂ (Högberg et al 2010) has been confirmed in two publications (Grzesk et al 2012, Grzesk et al 2013). The latter publication suggests that high dose aspirin impaired the anticontractile effect of ticagrelor following ADP stimulation in rat tail artery smooth muscle cells. The clinical relevance is unknown.

2.4.2.2 Secondary Pharmacology

2.4.2.2.1 Selectivity against other P2 receptor subtypes

In the original MAA application it was demonstrated that ticagrelor has activity at the P2Y $_{12}$ receptor but no relevant activity at the other P2Y and P2X receptors tested. Since then a functional assay for P2Y $_{13}$ has been established and in a Sponsor conducted study, ticagrelor and AR-C124910XX but not AR-C133913XX, concentration dependently inhibited 10 nM 2MeSADP induced P2Y $_{13}$ responses with IC $_{50}$ -values of 0.46±0.04 μ M (mean±SEM) and 0.20±0.05 μ M (mean±SEM), respectively (AZMR10392). The potential clinical relevance is unclear.

2.4.2.2.2 Adenosine transporter (ENT1) inhibition

The additional secondary pharmacology work conducted since the original MAA has focused on elucidating and validating the additional mechanism of action of ticagrelor related to adenosine. Previously reported, now published, *in vitro* data on adenosine uptake inhibition indicated that the transporter involved likely was ENT1 (van Giezen et al 2012). Using human recombinant cell systems this has now been verified as ticagrelor, in a published Sponsor conducted study, was shown to inhibit the adenosine transporter ENT1 with an IC₅₀ of 200 nM (Ki 41 nM) with no significant inhibition (IC₅₀ >10 μ M) of ENT2, concentrative nucleoside transporter (CNT)2 or CNT3 (2549KV, Armstrong et al 2014).

2.4.2.2.3 General selectivity

The original secondary pharmacology profiling of ticagrelor, AR-C124910XX and AR-C133913XX have also been complemented and expanded using radioligand binding, enzyme and functional assays *in vitro* in 4 Sponsor conducted studies (1064SY, 0951SY, 0952SY, 1055SY). Using a binding affinity of $K_i \le 200$ nM as a cut-off, corresponding to a100-fold selectivity vs. P2Y₁₂, (K_i 2.0 nM), yielded 3 significant activities. Mean affinities (K_i) and functional activities (IC₅₀) are summarized in Table 2.

Table 2 Non-P2Y12 activities of ticagrelor and AR-C124910XX in vitro

	Ticagrelor (μM)		AR-C124910XX (μM)		
	K_{i}	IC_{50}	K_i	IC_{50}	
Adenosine transporter ENT1	0.041	0.2			
Dopamine transporter	0.2	0.1			
Adenosine A ₃ receptor	0.2	6.4	0.2	5.6	

A previous Sponsor supported external study reported activity vs GPR17 (AZM090128-04, Martini 2010). However, this could not be confirmed in a second Sponsor supported external study using an alternative investigator (AZMR10330). Thus there is no conclusive evidence that ticagrelor has activity vs. GPR17.

2.4.2.2.4 Pharmacological relevance of ENT1 inhibition

A number of Sponsor conducted studies have been carried out to understand and explore the physiological relevance of ticagrelor mediated ENT1 inhibition.

A previously reported study, now published, showed that ticagrelor could augment adenosine-induced coronary blood flow increases in dog model (van Giezen et al 2012). This observation has now been shown to be relevant to humans as ticagrelor, 180 mg, augmented adenosine-induced coronary blood flow increases in a randomized published Sponsor conducted study in healthy human subjects (Wittfeldt et al 2013).

A Sponsor conducted *in vitro* study in human blood showed that ticagrelor could attenuate the degradation of exogenously added adenosine and thereby augment adenosine-induced platelet inhibition (AZMR10120). The platelet function data was repeated and confirmed in an external laboratory that also performed parallel experiments in blood from P2Y₁₂ deficient patients (Nylander et al 2013). The potency by which ticagrelor attenuated the degradation of the added adenosine in these *in vitro* experiments predicted that the effect should be present in patients treated with ticagrelor and indeed the adenosine plasma concentrations have been shown to be increased in patients treated with ticagrelor relative patients treated with clopidogrel (Bonello et al 2013).

Another *in vitro* experiment, published as a meeting abstract, showed that ticagrelor can augment adenosine-induced stimulation of neutrophil chemotaxis in the presence of erythrocytes (Alsharif et al 2014).

A previous report, now published, showed that ticagrelor but not clopidogrel could reduce infarct size in a dog tPA-induced reperfusion model (Wang et al 2010). Both $P2Y_{12}$ antagonists were dosed to equal $P2Y_{12}$ inhibition as evidenced by complete inhibition of ADP-induced aggregation $ex\ vivo$, thus indicating a non- $P2Y_{12}$ mediated cardioprotective effect of ticagrelor. In a recent publication ticagrelor dose-dependently reduced infarct size in a rat model of reperfusion injury whereas again no effect was seen for clopidogrel despite dosed to

similar P2Y₁₂ inhibition (Nanhwan et al 2014). In this rat model the infarct size reduction induced by ticagrelor could be reversed by adenosine antagonism providing indirect evidence that in this model the mechanism responsible for the cardioprotective effect was adenosine mediated. Furthermore, the infarct size reduction could partly be reversed by high but not low dose aspirin providing a plausible mechanistic explanation for the apparent interaction with high dose aspirin in patients (see 2.4.2.4.1). The adenosine mediated effects of ticagrelor and their potential clinical relevance have recently been reviewed (Cattaneo et al 2014).

2.4.2.2.5 Other in vitro and in vivo pharmacodynamic observations

Human erythrocytes responded to ticagrelor *in vitro* by releasing ATP in a dose-dependent manner (IC₅₀ 14 μ M) (Öhman et al 2012). It is not known whether this effect occurs in humans. If present it may further enhance the local presence of adenosine.

A published mouse study showed that thienopyridines (clopidogrel and prasugrel) but not elinogrel (a direct reversible P2Y₁₂ antagonist) prolonged primary haemostasis in a tail vein blood loss model in P2Y₁₂ KO mice compared with untreated P2Y₁₂ KO mice (André et al 2011). This indicates that the thienopyridines but not elinogrel could further increase bleeding via an unknown non-P2Y₁₂ related effect. However a similar Sponsor conducted mouse study showed that ticagrelor, clopidogrel and elinogrel can all increase bleeding in the absence of P2Y₁₂, by which mechanism is unclear (AZMR10231).

2.4.2.3 General Pharmacology

2.4.2.3.1 Reversal of anti-platelet effect

A number of *in vitro* and *ex vivo* studies have been conducted to predict the effect of platelet transfusion in patients. A Sponsor conducted study, using human platelet rich plasma, concluded that the platelet inhibition achieved by ticagrelor can be reversed to different extents depending on the level of platelet inhibition induced by ticagrelor, the incubation time with un-inhibited platelets, and the amount of added un-inhibited platelets (AZMR10395). Similar independent studies have been published (Hobl et al 2013, Hansson et al 2014, O'Connor et al 2013, Ibrahim et al 2014, Martin et al 2014). A rat study indicate that a platelet transfusion may be less effective in the setting of ticagrelor, reversible inhibition, as compared with prasugrel, irreversible inhibition (Sugidachi et al 2013) which also was indicated in a few of the studies mentioned above.

Both NovoSeven and human recombinant FII were able to attenuate ticagrelor enhanced bleeding when evaluated in a mouse tail bleeding model (AZMR10333, AZMR10335).

2.4.2.3.2 Effect in animal models of atherosclerosis, restenosis, stroke, cancer and sepsis

A number of published studies have explored the effect of ticagrelor in different disease models.

Following 8 weeks of treatment, ticagrelor attenuated the initiation of atherosclerosis in hypercholesterolemic ApoE deficient mice (Schirmer et al 2012). However, a similar study using the same model but only 4 weeks treatment showed no effect of ticagrelor or clopidogrel treatment (West et al 2014). Ticagrelor induced a more stable plaque phenotype (thicker

fibrous cap and reduced necrotic core) with a trend for a reduction in plaque size after 25 week treatment of hypercholesterolemic ApoE deficient mice (Rusnak et al 2014).

Ticagrelor reduced neointima formation in a mouse carotid artery model (FeCl₃ injury) (Patil et al 2010) and reduced neointimal hyperplasia in a rabbit carotid anastomosis model (Sürer et al 2014).

Ticagrelor attenuated the progression of brain damage at 24 and 48 h after middle cerebral occlusion in rat model of stroke. The protective effect was accompanied by (or due to) a significant reduction of typical markers of brain inflammation, such as the number of bloodborne infiltrating macrophages and of locally activated microglial cells (AZMR10259, Gelosa et al 2014).

In mouse models of experimental metastasis, ticagrelor reduced metastases and improved survival (Gebremeskel et al 2014).

Ticagrelor reduced neutrophil recruitment and lung damage in a mouse sepsis model (cecal ligation and puncture) (Rahman et al 2013).

2.4.2.4 Pharmacodynamic drug interactions

2.4.2.4.1 Potential interaction with aspirin

A number of studies were conducted to explore the mechanism of the interaction with aspirin seen in the PLATO study where high maintenance dose of aspirin appeared to reduce the clinical benefit of ticagrelor relative to clopidogrel (Mahaffey et al 2011). In a Sponsor conducted in vitro study pre-incubation with aspirin (0.1 to 5.0 mM) had no effect on the inhibition of 2Me-S-ADP-induced P2Y₁₂ signalling by ticagrelor (AZMR10072). In human platelets in vitro (Warner 2010, Kirkby et al 2013) as well as in a Sponsor published in vivo study in dog (AZMR10239, Björkman et al 2013) it was shown that P2Y₁₂ inhibition resulted in inhibition of thromboxane-dependent pathways of platelet activation independently of aspirin. In the dog model, aspirin, when added to sub-maximal P2Y₁₂ inhibition, contributed additional anti-thrombotic and anti-platelet effect, but when added to maximal P2Y₁₂ inhibition, contributed no additional anti-thrombotic effect and a smaller anti-platelet effect compared to in combination with sub-maximal P2Y₁₂ inhibition. The differences in terms of anti-thrombotic and anti-platelet effects were related to the level of P2Y₁₂ inhibition but not the particular P2Y₁₂ antagonist used. High dose aspirin significantly decreased in vivo PGI₂ production and increases vascular resistance, effects that were independent of P2Y₁₂ antagonist at any dose tested (AZMR10239, Björkman et al 2013). Hence the balance between the added anti-platelet benefit of high-dose aspirin in combination with P2Y₁₂ antagonism and its potential harm may be different depending on the level of P2Y₁₂ blockade. This is further discussed in a review on the use of aspirin in regards to dual anti-platelet therapy (Warner et al 2011).

2.4.2.4.2 Potential interaction with clopidogrel and cangrelor

The potential pharmacodynamic drug-drug interactions between ticagrelor and clopidogrel and ticagrelor or clopidogrel and cangrelor were investigated in a Sponsor conducted dog study (27053, 27263, Ravnefjord et al 2012). The observed interactions between clopidogrel and cangrelor or ticagrelor appeared to be dependent on the level of receptor occupancy when clopidogrel is administered. Importantly, no significant pharmacodynamic interaction occurred between ticagrelor/clopidogrel when clopidogrel was given at clinical trough levels in terms of platelet inhibition with ticagrelor. No significant pharmacodynamic interaction occurred between cangrelor and ticagrelor.

2.4.2.4.3 Potential interaction with rivaroxaban

Using tissue factor (TF)-induced platelet aggregation and TF-induced thrombin generation, and a rat arteriovenous shunt model *in vivo*, concomitant administration of ticagrelor and rivaroxaban enhanced the antithrombotic effects of the latter (Perzborn et al 2011a, Perzborn et al 2011b, Perzborn et al 2012).

2.4.3. PHARMACOKINETICS

To support the 5-year renewal of the marketing authorization of ticagrelor, 7 studies which related to the nonclinical pharmacokinetics of ticagrelor were conducted by the Sponsor and are summarized in this section. A review of the literature from the past 5 years did not reveal any additional information pertaining to the nonclinical metabolism and pharmacokinetics of ticagrelor.

2.4.3.1 Absorption

Ticagrelor is a P-glycoprotein (Pgp) substrate and, to support the paediatric programme, an *in vitro* study has been performed by the Sponsor to quantify the amount of Pgp in liver homogenate from neonatal rats (7, 14 and 25 days old) and adult rats (AZM110520-04). The results indicate that the Pgp amount in the liver increased with age in young rats. However, in the adult rats there was significantly less Pgp compared to the amount in 25 days old rats.

2.4.3.2 Distribution

To support the paediatric programme, the *in vitro* plasma protein binding of ticagrelor and its metabolite AR-C124910XX was determined by the Sponsor by equilibrium dialysis at 0.37 and 37 µg/mL and 0.35 and 34 µg/mL for ticagrelor and AR-C124910XX, respectively, in plasma from neonatal Han Wistar rats (7, 14 and 25 days old) (YAT/265). Rat plasma for this study was obtained under a separate study protocol (VKS0827). The degree of protein binding was very high in all age groups for both ticagrelor and AR-C124910XX. For ticagrelor the mean unbound fraction ranged between 0.3% and 0.5% and for the metabolite between 0.3% and 0.4%. In conclusion, the plasma protein binding of ticagrelor and the metabolite AR-C124910XX was high and similar in the age range of 7 to 25 days old rats and the plasma protein binding in young rats was in the same range as for adult rats.

2.4.3.3 Metabolism

The metabolism of ticagrelor and AR-C124910XX was investigated by the Sponsor in liver microsomes from male and female Han Wistar rats of various ages (7, 14, 25 days and 13 weeks old) to support the paediatric programme (VKS0826). The livers used were from a separate study (VKS0827). The results indicated that there was little metabolism of ticagrelor by rat liver microsomes, at 0.5 or 2.5 mg/mL, under the experimental conditions used. Consequently these data were not considered suitable for the determination of accurate intrinsic values. There was evidence that some microsomal formation of AR-C124910XX was seen, which increased with age of both male and female rats. The data provided did not suggest any metabolism of AR-C124910XX by rat liver microsomes under the conditions used in this study.

2.4.3.4 Excretion

Not applicable

2.4.3.5 Drug Interactions

The involvement of the cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes 2E1 and 2C8 in the metabolism of ticagrelor have been investigated by the Sponsor (AZM100709-04). Recombinant human P450 enzymes 2E1 and 2C8 (rCYP2E1 and 2C8) were used in the study as well as CYP selective inhibitors to estimate the relative contribution of various CYPs in the metabolism of ticagrelor in human liver microsomes (HLM) and changes in formation rates of the metabolites AR-C124910XX and AR-C133913XX. Incubations of ticagrelor in rCYP2C8 and rCYP2E1 showed less than 3% and 0.05% substrate depletion, respectively and intrinsic clearance was not possible to calculate. Diethyldithiocarbamate (20 µM) and quercetin (5 μM), which are inhibitors of CYP2E1 and CYP2C8, respectively, reduced the formation of the active metabolite AR-C124910XX by approximately 20% and the formation of the inactive metabolite AR-C133913XX by 50% from ticagrelor in human liver microsomes. However, the inhibition of CYP3A-mediated hydroxylations of midazolam and testosterone by the same inhibitors in HLM were in the same order of magnitude, indicating a non-specific effect of the CYP inhibitors used. In conclusion, the complementary in vitro experimental results from this study indicate that CYP2E1 and CYP2C8 do not contribute substantially to the metabolism of ticagrelor.

The potential of acetylsalicylic acid (ASA) and salicylic acid (SA) to induce the human cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes CYP1A2, CYP2B6 and CYP3A4 has been evaluated by the Sponsor in the human hepatoma cell line HepaRG (AZM090914-04). HepaRG cell monolayers were exposed to ASA and SA at concentrations up to 1000 µM to investigate CYP enzyme activity and gene expression. Omeprazole (CYP1A2), phenobarbital (CYP2B6) and rifampicin (CYP3A4) were used as prototypical inducers. The CYP enzyme activities were measured by the following marker substrates: phenacetin (CYP1A2), bupropion (CYP2B6) and midazolam (CYP3A4). The induction of CYP enzyme activities and gene expressions by the test compounds were evaluated by calculating the concentrations leading to a 2-fold increase over baseline (F₂ values). In cases when full dose response curves were reached, EC₅₀ values were calculated. The results from the enzyme activity measurements

showed that ASA and SA are not inducers of CYP1A2, CYP2B6 or CYP3A4 at the concentrations tested and gene expression analyses confirmed that ASA and SA are not inducers of CYP1A2, CYP2B6 or CYP3A4. In conclusion, the results of this study demonstrate that ASA and SA up to a concentration of 1000 μ M does not induce CYP1A2, CYP2B6 or CYP3A4 enzyme activity or gene expression in the human hepatoma cell line HepaRG.

A pharmacokinetic *in vivo* interaction study of ASA and SA after oral administration of ASA alone or in combination with oral dosing of ticagrelor or intravenous dosing of clopidigrel was conducted by the Sponsor in the dog (AZM090928-01). In summary, there were no major differences in the pharmacokinetics of ASA and SA, respectively, after co-administration of ASA with ticagrelor or clopidogrel compared to when ASA was given alone.

2.4.4. TOXICOLOGY

A substantial nonclinical toxicology package supported the original Marketing Authorization Application (MAA) of ticagrelor. To support the paediatric program and to investigate the effects of ticagrelor on steroidogenesis the Sponsor conducted 7 nonclinical toxicology studies during the past 5 years. These studies are listed (see Table 3) and summarised below. In addition, a review of the literature covering the past 5 years was conducted and did not reveal any additional noteworthy information pertaining to the nonclinical safety risk assessment of ticagrelor.

Table 3 Nonclinical Toxicology Studies with ticagrelor

Study type and duration	Route of administration	Species	Study number	GLP compliant
Juvenile Toxicity:				-
DRF – Neonatal Rats (19 days)	po	Rat	2835LR	Yes
Neonatal Rats (19 days)	po	Rat	2836LR	Yes
Weanling Rats (5 weeks)	po	Rat	2885LR	Yes
Respiratory effects (single dose)	po	Rat	3233SR	Yes
Investigative Toxicity:				
Effects on Steroidogenesis in Ovarian Cell Culture	in vitro	Rat	2189KV	No
Effects on Steroidogenesis in Adrenal Cell Culture	in vitro	Rat	2190KV	No
Prolactin Release in Ovariectomized Rats (4 days)	po	Rat	3100KR	No

2.4.4.1 Juvenile toxicity

Four nonclinical toxicology studies were conducted to support administration of ticagrelor to paediatric patients.

A dose range- finding study (2835LR) was conducted by the Sponsor in neonatal rats. The data suggested that oral administration of ticagrelor in young rats for 19 days, starting at 7 days of age, at dose levels of 10, 60 or 180 mg/kg/day was well tolerated and only resulted in a minimally transient lower body weight gain in animals given the high dose (180 mg/kg/day).

In the subsequent main neonatal toxicity study in the rat (2836LR) administration of ticagrelor to neonatal Wistar rats for 19 days, starting at 7 days of age, at doses of 0, 10, 60 and 180 mg/kg/day, resulted in mortality of a number of main test and satellite animals at the high dose level of 180 mg/kg/day. An involvement of ticagrelor in the observed mortality in the high dose group was considered likely, even though no cause of death could be established and intubation trauma was suspected in one of the high dose animal deaths. Microscopic examination revealed a higher incidence and severity of congestion and haemorrhage in the mesenteric lymph node in the high dose group. This was considered to be due to an exaggeration of an agonal effect based on the pharmacology of ticagrelor. The dose level of 60 mg/kg/day was considered to be a No Observed Adverse Effect Levels (NOAEL) which was equivalent to at least 7 fold the human adult therapeutic exposures at 90 mg bid (based on AUC total).

The nonclinical toxicology profile of ticagrelor was also investigated by the Sponsor in weanling rats (2885LR). In this study oral administration of ticagrelor at dosages of 0, 10, 60 or 180 mg/kg/day to weanling rats for five weeks caused transient reductions in body weight gain and food consumption together with increased liver transaminases and organ weight but without associated histopathological changes in the liver at a dose level of 180 mg/kg/day. These effects were reversible and were not noted at the end of the 4-week recovery period. The death of a single high dose female on Day 3 of the study may have been attributable to the test compound, however, cause of death could not be established at histopathological examination. The NOAEL for this study was 60 mg/kg/day which was equivalent to at least 10 fold the human adult therapeutic exposures at 90 mg bid (based on AUC total).

A single dose study in the suckling rat was conducted by the Sponsor to assess the effects of ticagrelor on the respiratory system, using whole body plethysmography (3233SR). In this study, which was designed to better evaluate the risk of potential respiratory effects occurring in the very young paediatric population, ie, preterm/term newborn and infants, ticagrelor (180 mg/kg) had no compound-related effect on respiratory rate, tidal volume, minute volume, inspiration time and expiration times and peak inspiratory and expiratory flows at 120 min post-dose. The NOEL for effects on the respiratory system of suckling rats was at least 180 mg/kg ticagrelor which was equivalent to at least 40 fold the human adult therapeutic exposures at 90 mg bid (based on Cmax total).

2.4.4.2 Investigative Toxicity Studies

Three nonclinical toxicology studies were conducted by the Sponsor to investigate the effects of ticagrelor on steroidogenesis.

As already reported and discussed in the original MAA, ticagrelor was found to increase the incidence of uterine adenocarcinomas in a 2-year rat carcinogenicity study (0508CR). Effects on circulating testosterone and oestradiol concentrations were demonstrated in a subsequent 3-month investigative study (1800KR) and it had been demonstrated *in vitro* that ticagrelor can inhibit steroidogenesis in ovarian cell cultures isolated from AP Han Wistar rats (1778KV). To better understand the underlying mechanism of this decrease in steroidogenesis an additional study (2189KV) was conducted by the Sponsor. Since the strain of rat used in (1778KV), ie, AP Han Wistar rats, was no longer available, this study was conducted using ovarian cells derived from Harlan rats. Unfortunately, the effects of ticagrelor on steroidogenesis, seen previously could not be reproduced in this study and therefore no conclusion could be drawn. An exception to this was the assessment of the effects of ticagrelor on 3β-HSD activity where ticagrelor was shown not to inhibit 3β-HSD activity in Harlan-derived ovarian cell cultures.

Another investigative toxicology study was conducted to investigate the mechanism whereby ticagrelor can inhibit steroidogenesis in rat adrenal cell cultures (2190KV). It was shown that ticagrelor can effectively inhibit the unstimulated synthesis and release of corticosterone and progesterone by cultured rat adrenal cells, but its effect on maximally ACTH-stimulated cells is minimal. This inhibitory effect of ticagrelor is unlikely to be related to its primary pharmacology since the P2Y12 inhibitor cangrelor, unlike ticagrelor, did not inhibit adrenal

steroidogenesis. In addition, ticagrelor appeared not to competitively inhibit steroidogenic enzymes in rat adrenal cell cultures. The observed effects of ticagrelor on adrenal cells preincubated with ACTH were consistent with it inhibiting ACTH-mediated stimulation of steroidogenesis.

Secondary pharmacology studies of AZD6140 reveal an ability to bind to the dopamine transporter (DAT), see Table 2. Since dopamine negatively regulates lactotroph function and inhibitors of DAT have been shown to block estradiol-induced prolactin release in ovariectomized rats, the effect of 4 daily doses of ticagrelor on estradiol-induced prolactin release was studied by the Sponsor in an ovariectomized rat investigative toxicity study (3100KR). Whilst a surge in prolactin release was noted in vehicle-treated rats, oral administration of ticagrelor (180 mg/kg/day) almost completely blocked estradiol-induced prolactin release in ovariectomized rats.

2.4.5. INTEGRATED OVERVIEW AND CONCLUSIONS

The data from internal AstraZeneca studies conducted with ticagrelor as well as information published during the past 5 years since submission of the original MAA (22-October-2009 to 8-November-2014) add to the knowledge of pharmacological, pharmacokinetic and toxicological effects of ticagrelor.

However, none of the new information listed above is considered to significantly change the already established and previously reported pharmacological, pharmacokinetic and toxicological properties of ticagrelor as already discussed in the original MAA and thus none of the new data created over the past five years alter the favourable benefit/risk profile of ticagrelor for continued use in the treatment of patients with acute coronary syndrome.

2.4.6. LIST OF LITERATURE CITATIONS

Alsharif et al 2014

Alsharif K, Judge H, Ridger V, Storey R.F. Ticagrelor and dipyridamole potentiate adenosine-induced stimulation of neutrophil chemotaxis in the presence of erythrocytes. ESC 2014, abstract 5805.

André et al 2011

André P, DeGuzman F, Haberstock-Debic H, Mills S, Pak Y, Inagaki M, Pandey A, Hollenbach S, Phillips DR, Conley PB. Thienopyridines, but not elinogrel, result in off-target effects at the vessel wall that contribute to bleeding. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2011 Jul;338(1):22-30.

Armstrong et al 2014

Armstrong D, Summers C, Ewart L, Nylander S, Sidaway JE, van Giezen JJ. Characterization of the adenosine pharmacology of Ticagrelor reveals therapeutically relevant inhibition of equilibrative nucleoside transporter 1. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther. 2014 Mar; 19(2):209-19.

Björkman et al 2013

Björkman JA, Zachrisson H, Forsberg GB, von Bahr H, Hansson GI, Warner TD, Nylander S. High-dose aspirin in dogs increases vascular resistance with limited additional anti-platelet effect when combined with potent P2Y12 inhibition. Thromb Res. 2013 Apr;131(4):313-9.

Bonello et al 2013

Bonello L, Laine M, Kipson N, Mancini J, Helal O, Fromonot J, Gariboldi V, Condo J, Thuny F, Frere C, Camoin-Jau L, Paganelli F, Dignat-George F, Guieu R. Ticagrelor increases adenosine plasma concentration in patients with an acute coronary syndrome. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013 Mar 11;63(9):872-7.

Cattaneo et al 2014

Cattaneo M, Schulz R, Nylander S. Adenosine-mediated effects of Ticagrelor: evidence and potential clinical relevance. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014 Jun17;63(23):2503-9. Review.

Gebremeskel et al 2014

Gebremeskel S, LeVatte T, Liwski RS, Johnston B, Bezuhly M. The reversible P2Y12 inhibitor Ticagrelor inhibits metastasis and improves survival in mouse models of cancer. Int J Cancer. 2014 May 5. doi: 10.1002/ijc.28947. [Epub ahead of print]

Gelosa et al 2014

Gelosa P, Lecca D, Fumagalli M, Wypych D, Pignieri A, Cimino M, Verderio C, Enerbäck M, Nikookhesal E, Tremoli E, Abbracchio MP, Sironi L. Microglia is a key player in the reduction of stroke damage promoted by the new antithrombotic agent Ticagrelor. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2014 Jun;34(6):979-88.

Grzesk et al 2012

Grzesk G, Kozinski M, Navarese EP, Krzyzanowski M, Grzesk E, Kubica A, Siller-Matula JM, Castriota F, Kubica J. Ticagrelor, but not clopidogrel and prasugrel, prevents ADP-induced vascular smooth muscle cell contraction: a placebo-controlled study in rats. Thromb Res. 2012 Jul;130(1):65-9.

Grzesk et al 2013

Grześk G, Kozinski M, Tantry US, Wicinski M, Fabiszak T, Navarese EP, Grzesk E, Jeong YH, Gurbel PA, Kubica J. High-dose, but not low-dose, aspirin impairs anticontractile effect of Ticagrelor following ADP stimulation in rat tail artery smooth muscle cells. Biomed Res Int. 2013;2013:928271.

Hansson et al 2014

Hansson EC, Shams Hakimi C, Åström-Olsson K, Hesse C, Wallén H, Dellborg M, Albertsson P, Jeppsson A. Effects of ex vivo platelet supplementation on platelet aggregability in blood samples from patients treated with acetylsalicylic acid, clopidogrel, or Ticagrelor. Br J Anaesth. 2014 Mar;112(3):570-5.

Hobl et al 2013

Hobl EL, Derhaschnig U, Firbas C, Schoergenhofer C, Schwameis M, Jilma B. Reversal strategy in antagonizing the P2Y12 -inhibitor Ticagrelor. Eur J Clin Invest. 2013 Dec;43(12):1258-61.

Hoffman et al 2014

Hoffmann K, Lutz DA, Straßburger J, Baqi Y, Müller CE, von Kügelgen I. Competitive mode and site of interaction of Ticagrelor at the human platelet P2Y12 -receptor. J Thromb Haemost. 2014 Nov;12(11):1898-905.

Högberg et al 2010

Högberg C, Svensson H, Gustafsson R, Eyjolfsson A, Erlinge D. The reversible oral P2Y12 antagonist AZD6140 inhibits ADP-induced contractions in murine and human vasculature. Int J Cardiol. 2010 Jul 9;142(2):187-92.

Ibrahim et al 2014

Ibrahim K, Schoener L, Richter B, Pfluecke C, Quick S, Poitz D, Strasser RH. Reversibility of clopidogrel, prasugrel and Ticagrelor-ex vivo study. Eur Heart J. 2014, 35, 1030.

Kirkby et al 2013

Kirkby NS, Lundberg MH, Chan MV, Vojnovic I, Solomon AB, Emerson M, Mitchell JA, Warner TD. Blockade of the purinergic P2Y12 receptor greatly increases the platelet inhibitory actions of nitric oxide. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013 Sep 24;110(39):15782-7.

Kuijpers et al 2011

Kuijpers MJ, Megens RT, Nikookhesal E, Feijge MA, De Mey JG, oude Egbrink MG, van Giezen JJ, Heemskerk JW. Role of newly formed platelets in thrombus formation in rat after clopidogrel treatment: comparison to the reversible binding P2Y₁₂ antagonist Ticagrelor. Thromb Haemost. 2011 Dec;106(6):1179-88.

Mahaffey et al 2011

Mahaffey KW, Wojdyla DM, Carroll K, Becker RC, Storey RF, Angiolillo DJ, Held C, Cannon CP, James S, Pieper KS, Horrow J, Harrington RA, Wallentin L; PLATO Investigators. Ticagrelor compared with clopidogrel by geographic region in the Platelet Inhibition and Patient Outcomes (PLATO) trial. Circulation. 2011 Aug 2;124(5):544-54.

Martin et al 2014

Martin A-C, Berndt C, Gaussem P, Gouin-Thibault I, Siguret V, Le Bonniec B, Godier A. No effect of platelet supplementation to reverse the P2Y12 inhibitor Ticagrelor: An in vitro study. Eur Heart J. 2014, 35, 1170.

Martini 2010

Martini C, Daniele S, Trincavelli ML, et al. The oral reversibly-binding antiplatelet agent, Ticagrelor, acts as an antagonist at the P2Y-like receptor GPR17. *Purinergic Signal*. 2010;6(suppl 1): 1–162. Abstract P21-4.

Nanhwan et al 2014

Nanhwan MK, Ling S, Kodakandla M, Nylander S, Ye Y, Birnbaum Y. Chronic treatment with Ticagrelor limits myocardial infarct size: an adenosine and cyclooxygenase-2-dependent effect. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2014 Sep;34(9):2078-85.

Nergiz-Unal et al 2010

Nergiz-Unal R, Cosemans JM, Feijge MA, van der Meijden PE, Storey RF, van Giezen JJ, oude Egbrink MG, Heemskerk JW, Kuijpers MJ. Stabilizing role of platelet P2Y(12) receptors in shear-dependent thrombus formation on ruptured plaques. PLoS One. 2010 Apr 12;5(4):e10130.

Nylander et al 2013

Nylander S, Femia EA, Scavone M, Berntsson P, Asztély AK, Nelander K, Löfgren L, Nilsson RG, Cattaneo M. Ticagrelor inhibits human platelet aggregation via adenosine in addition to P2Y12 antagonism. J Thromb Haemost. 2013 Oct;11(10):1867-76.

O'Connor et al 2013

O'Connor S, Martin R, Kerneis M, Abtan J, Brugier D, Silvain J, Montalescot G, Collet J-P. Assessment of the efficacy of EX vivo platelet transfusion in the restoration of platelet function in acute coronary syndrome and PCI presenters treated with clopidogrel, prasugrel or Ticagrelor-the aptitude study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013, 62, 18, B53.

Patil et al 2010

Patil SB, Jackman LE, Francis SE, Judge HM, Nylander S, Storey RF. Ticagrelor effectively and reversibly blocks murine platelet P2Y12-mediated thrombosis anddemonstrates a requirement for sustained P2Y12 inhibition to prevent subsequentneointima. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2010 Dec;30(12):2385-91.

Perzborn et al 2011a

Perzborn E, Harwardt M, Heitmeier S, Laux V. Effects of rivaroxaban on thrombin generation is modified by a P2Y12 receptor blocker but not by acetylsalicylic acid. Hamostaseologie. 2011, 31, 1, A90-A91.

Perzborn et al 2011b

Perzborn E, Harwardt M, Heitmeier S, Laux V. The effect of the oral direct factor Xa inhibitor rivaroxaban on tissue factor mediated in vitro platelet aggregation is enhanced by a P2Y12 receptor blocker. J Thromb Haemost. 2011, 9, 74.

Perzborn et al 2012

Perzborn E, Heitmeier S, Laux V. Concomitant administration of antiplatelet agents enhances the antithrombotic effects of rivaroxaban in vitro and in vivo. Eur Heart J. 2012, 33, 304.

Rahman et al 2013

Rahman M, Gustafsson D, Wang Y, Thorlacius H, Braun OO. Ticagrelor reduces neutrophil recruitment and lung damage in abdominal sepsis. Platelets. 2013 Jul 15.

Ravnefjord et al 2012

Ravnefjord A, Weilitz J, Emanuelsson BM, van Giezen JJ. Evaluation of Ticagrelor pharmacodynamic interactions with reversibly binding or non-reversibly binding P2Y(12) antagonists in an ex-vivo canine model. Thromb Res. 2012 Oct;130(4):622-8.

Rusnak et al 2014

Rusnak J, Mogler C, Buttler A, Bea F, Blessing E, Katus HA, Preusch MR. Evaluation of antiinflammatory and plaque stabilizing effects of Ticagrelor on advanced atherosclerotic lesions in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. German Cardiac Society, 8th Annual Meeting 2014, Mannheim.

Schirmer et al 2012

Schirmer SH, Kratz MT, Kazakov A, Nylander S, Baumhakel M, Laufs U, Bohm M. Inhibition of the adenosine diphosphate receptor P2Y12 reduces atherosclerotic plaque size in hypercholesterolemic ApoE-/- mice. European Heart Journal. 2012;33(Abstract Supplement):200.

Speich et al 2014

Speich HE, Bhal V, Houser KH, Caughran AT, Lands LT, Houng AK, Bäckstrom J, Enerbäck M, Reed GL, Jennings LK. Signaling via P2Y12 May be Critical for Early Stabilization of Platelet Aggregates. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 2014 Jun;63(6):520-7.

Sugidachi et al 2013

Sugidachi A, Ohno K, Ogawa T, Jakubowski J, Hashimoto M, Tomizawa A. A comparison of the pharmacological profiles of prasugrel and Ticagrelor assessed by platelet aggregation, thrombus formation and haemostasis in rats. Br J Pharmacol. 2013 May;169(1):82-9.

Sürer et al 2014

Sürer S, Toktas F, Ay D, Eris C, Yavuz S, Turk T, Vural AH, Goncu MT, Gul NY, Yalcınkaya U. Effect of the P2Y12 antagonist Ticagrelor on neointimal hyperplasia in a rabbit carotid anastomosis model[†]. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg. 2014 Aug;19(2):198-204.

van Giezen et al 2009

Van Giezen JJ, Nilsson L, Berntsson P, Wissing BM, Giordanetto F, Tomlinson W, Greasley PJ. Ticagrelor binds to human P2Y(12) independently from ADP but antagonizes ADP-induced receptor signaling and platelet aggregation. J Thromb Haemost. 2009 Sep;7(9):1556-65.

van Giezen et al 2012

Van Giezen JJJ, Sidaway J, Glaves P, Kirk I, Bjorkman JA. Ticagrelor inhibits adenosine uptake in vitro and enhances adenosine-mediated hyperemia responses in a canine model. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther. 2012; 17: 164-72.

Wang et al 2010

Wang K, Zhou X, Huang Y, Khalil M, Wiktor D, van Giezen JJ, Penn MS. Adjunctive treatment with Ticagrelor, but not clopidogrel, added to tPA enables sustained coronary artery

recanalisation with recovery of myocardium perfusion in a canine coronary thrombosis model. Thromb Haemost. 2010 Sep;104(3):609-17.

Warner 2010

Warner 2010: Analysis of the effects of Ticagrelor (AZ11939728) and prasugrel active metabolite (AZ11702105) on platelet responses in vitro. The William Harvey Research Institute, London (UK) sponsored by AstraZeneca R&D Mölndal (Sweden).

Warner et al 2011

Warner TD, Nylander S, Whatling C. Anti-platelet therapy: cyclo-oxygenase inhibition and the use of aspirin with particular regard to dual anti-platelet therapy. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2011 Oct;72(4):619-33. Review.

West et al 2014

West LE, Steiner T, Judge HM, Francis SE, Storey RF. Vessel wall, not platelet, P2Y12 potentiates early atherogenesis. Cardiovasc Res. 2014 Jun 1;102(3):429-35.

Wittfeldt et al 2013

Wittfeldt A, Emanuelsson H, Brandrup-Wognsen G, van Giezen JJ, Jonasson J, Nylander S, Gan LM. Ticagrelor enhances adenosine-induced coronary vasodilatory responses in humans. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2013 Feb 19;61(7):723-7.

Zhang et al 2014a

Zhang K, Zhang J, Gao ZG, Zhang D, Zhu L, Han GW, Moss SM, Paoletta S, Kiselev E, Lu W, Fenalti G, Zhang W, Müller CE, Yang H, Jiang H, Cherezov V, Katritch V, Jacobson KA, Stevens RC, Wu B, Zhao Q. Structure of the human P2Y12 receptor in complex with an antithrombotic drug. Nature. 2014 May 1;509(7498):115-8.

Zhang et al 2014b

Zhang J, Zhang K, Gao ZG, Paoletta S, Zhang D, Han GW, Li T, Ma L, Zhang W, Müller CE, Yang H, Jiang H, Cherezov V, Katritch V, Jacobson KA, Stevens RC, Wu B, Zhao Q. Agonist-bound structure of the human P2Y12 receptor. Nature. 2014 May 1;509(7498):119-22.

Öhman et al 2012

Öhman J, Kudira R, Albinsson S, Olde B, Erlinge D. Ticagrelor induces adenosine triphosphate release from human red blood cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2012 Feb 24:418(4):754-8.

0508CR

0508CR: AZD6140: 104 Week Carcinogenicity Study in Rats with Administration by Gavage. Charles River Laboratories, Edinburgh, UK. 26 November 2007.

0951SY

0951SY: Ticagrelor: Selectivity Screening in Radioligand Binding, Enzyme and Electrophysiological Assays *in vitro*. Conducted at Ricerca Biosciences LLC (Taiwan) sponsored by AstraZeneca R&D Alderley Park (UK).

0952SY

0952SY: Ticagrelor Metabolite, AZ11879328-003: Selectivity Screening in Radioligand Binding, Enzyme and Electrophysiological Assays *in vitro*. Conducted at Ricerca Biosciences LLC (Taiwan) sponsored by AstraZeneca R&D Alderley Park (UK).

1055SY

1055SY: AZ11879477-003: Selectivity Screening in Radioligand Binding and Enzyme Assays *in vitro*, Conducted at Ricerca Biosciences LLC (Taiwan) sponsored by AstraZeneca R&D Alderley Park (UK). 6 June 2012.

1064SY

1064SY: Ticagrelor (AZ11939728) and metabolites AZ11879328 (AR-C124910XX XX XX), AZ11879477 (AR-C133913XXXX): Selectivity Screening in Radioligand Binding, Enzyme and Functional Assays *in vitro*. Safety Assessment UK, AstraZeneca R&D, 6 June 2012.

1778KV

1778KV: AZD6140: Effects on Steroidogenesis in Ovary Cell Cultures. AstraZeneca R&D Alderley Park, Safety Assessment, UK. 2009.

1800KR

1800KR: AZD6140: Three month Time Course Study of Reproductive Endocrinology and Pathology and Cyp Expression in the Ovary, Uterus, Adrenal and Liver. AstraZeneca R&D Alderley Park, Safety Assessment, UK. 31 May 2007.

2189KV

2189KV:AZD6140: Effects on Steroidogenesis in Ovary Cell Cultures derived from Harlan Rats. AstraZeneca R&D Alderley Park, Safety Assessment, UK. 14 September 2010.

2190KV

2190KV: AZD6140: Disregulation of Steroidogenesis in Adrenal Cell Cultures. AstraZeneca R&D Alderley Park, Safety Assessment, UK. 24 November 2009.

2549KV

2549KV: Ticagrelor: Effect on Adenosine uptake in ENT and CNT transfected MDCK cells, in vitro. AstraZeneca R&D Alderley Park (UK), 11 May 2012.

27053

27053: AZD6140: PKPD Evaluation of AZD6140 and Clopidogrel in Dog after Oral Administration of AZD6140 and Intravenous Administration of Clopidogrel, Separately and Combined (Study No 27053). AstraZeneca R&D, Clinical Pharmacology & DMPK, Mölndal, Sweden, 11 December 2008.

27263

27263: AZD6140: PKPD Evaluation of AZD6140, Cangrelor and Clopidogrel in Dog after Intravenous Infusion of Cangrelor, separately, or combined with Oral Administration of AZD6140 or Intravenous Administration of Clopidogrel (Study No 27263). AstraZeneca R&D, Clinical Pharmacology & DMPK, Mölndal, Sweden, 19 December 2008.

2835LR

2835LR (AA93000): Ticagrelor – Dose range-finding neonatal toxicity study following daily oral (gavage) administration for 19 days in the Han Wistar rat. Ricerca Bioscience SAS, 69210 Saint Germain sur l'Arbresle, France. 28 February 2011.

2836LR

2836LR (AA93001): Ticagrelor – Neonatal toxicity study following daily oral (gavage) administration for 19 days in the Han Wistar rat followed by an 8-week treatment-free period. Ricerca Bioscience SAS, 69210 Saint Germain sur l'Arbresle, France. 10 April 2011.

2885LR

2885LR: Ticagrelor: 5-Week Oral Toxicity Study with Assessment of Recovery in the Weanling Rat. AstraZeneca R&D Alderley Park, Safety Assessment, UK. 6 September 2011.

3100KR

3100KR: Effects of an Oral Gavage Dose of AZD6140 on Estradiol induced Prolactin Release in Ovariectomized Female Han Wistar Rats. AstraZeneca R&D Wimington, Safety Assessment, USA. 23 February 2011.

3233SR

3233SR: Ticagrelor: Respiratory Effects in the Suckling Han Wistar Rat following Single Oral Administration. AstraZeneca R&D Alderley Park, Safety Assessment, UK. 30 August 2011.

AZM090128-04

AZM090128-04: Evaluation of AZD6140 activity on GPR17 in 132N1 cells; GTP gamma S Binding Studies; Evaluation of AZD6140 in hGPR17, University of Milan, Italy, March 2007.

AZM090914-04

AZM090914-04: Acetylsalicylic acid and salicylic acid: Evaluation of Induction Potential of CYP1A2, CYP2B6 and CYP3A4 by acetylsalicylic acid and salicylic acid in the Human Hepatoma Cell Line HepaRG. AstraZeneca R&D Mölndal, Sweden. 29 January 2010.

AZM090928-01

AZM090928-01: Ticagrelor: Pharmacokinetic Study of Acetyl Salicylic Acid (ASA), Salicylic Acid (SA), Ticagrelor, AR-C124910XX XX XX and the Carboxylic Acid Metabolite of Clopidogrel after Oral Administration of ASA Alone or in Combination with Oral of Ticagrelor or Intravenous of Clopidigrel in the Dog. AstraZeneca R&D Mölndal, Sweden. 1 February 2010.

AZM100709-04

AZM100709-04: Ticagrelor: Investigation of Human Cytochromes P450 2E1 and 2C8 Involved in the Metabolism of Ticagrelor. AstraZeneca R&D Mölndal, Sweden. 24 February 2011.

AZM110520-04

AZM110520-04: Developmental expression of hepatic P-gp in young Rats. AstraZeneca R&D Mölndal, Sweden. 22 August 2011.

AZMR10072

AZMR10072: Ticagrelor, Effect of Aspirin pretreatment on Ticagrelor inhibition of 2Me-S-ADP-induced Human P2Y12 receptor signalling, In Vitro. AstraZeneca R&D Mölndal, Sweden. 25 February 2010.

AZMR10095

AZMR10095: Ticagrelor and its Metabolites AZ11879328 and AZ11879477, Displacement of [125I]AZ11931285 Radio-ligand Binding and Inhibition of 2Me-S-ADP-induced Human P2Y12 Receptor Signalling, In Vitro. AstraZeneca R&D Mölndal, Sweden. 19 April 2010.

AZMR10112

AZMR10112: Ticagrelor and its Metabolites AZ11879328 and AZ11879477, a Platelet Function Study using ADP-induced Platelet Aggregation in Human, Rat and Marmoset Blood evaluated by Impedance Aggregometry, *In Vitro*. AstraZeneca R&D Mölndal, Sweden. 20 April 2010.

AZMR10120

AZMR10120: Ticagrelor, A Role for Adenosine Uptake Inhibition Evaluated by Collagenand ADP-Induced Impedance Whole Blood Platelet Aggregation *In Vitro*. AstraZeneca R&D Mölndal, Sweden. 21 March 2012.

AZMR10213

AZMR10213: Ticagrelor: A Platelet Function Study Using ADP-induced Platelet Aggregation in Pups and Adult Rats, In Vitro. AstraZeneca R&D Mölndal, Sweden. 7 February 2011.

AZMR10231

AZMR10231: Ticagrelor, Elinogrel and Clopidogrel – Bleeding Time and Blood Loss in P2Y₁₂ Knock Out Mice, *in vivo*. AstraZeneca R&D, Mölndal, Sweden. 24 October 2011.

AZMR10239

AZMR10239: Ticagrelor, Clopidogrel and high dose Acetylsalicylic Acid, Effects on Arterial Thrombosis, Vascular Resistance and *ex vivo* Platelet Function Alone and in Combinations in the Anaesthetised Dog, *In Vivo*. AstraZeneca R&D Mölndal, Sweden. 30 March 2011.

AZMR10259

AZMR10259: Evaluation of AZD6140 in the Middle Cerebral Artery occlusion (MCAo) model in the rat. Conducted by the University of Milano (Italy) sponsored by AstraZeneca R&D Mölndal, Sweden. 27 May 2011.

AZMR10330

AZMR10330: CRO Report: In Vitro Examination of Ticagrelor and AZ12379678 for its Inhibition Properties on GPR17. Institute for Pharmaceutical Biology University of Bonn, Germany, 2 April 2012.

AZMR10333

AZMR10333: Ticagrelor; Evaluation of rhFVIIa (NovoSeven®) to Reverse Ticagrelor-induced Bleeding in Mice, *In Vivo*. AstraZeneca R&D, Bioscience, Mölndal, Sweden. 23 May 2012.

AZMR10335

AZMR10335: MEDI8111, Evaluation of MEDI8111 as Treatment to Normalize Ticagrelor-induced Effects on Bleeding Time and Blood Loss in Mice, in vivo. AstraZeneca R&D, Mölndal, Sweden. 22 August 2012.

AZMR10392

AZMR10392: Ticagrelor, Effect in a Functional Assay for Agonist/Antagonist Activity at the Human transfected P2Y13 Receptor in vitro. AstraZeneca R&D Mölndal, Sweden. December 2012.

AZMR10395

AZMR10395: Ticagrelor, Reversal of Inhibition of ADP-induced Platelet Aggregation by the Addition of Un-inhibited Platelets, In Vitro. AstraZeneca R&D Mölndal, Sweden. 31 January 2013.

BS000096-01

BS000096-01: Ticagrelor, Evaluation of Potency of Platelet Inhibition in Platelet Rich Plasma and Blood from Children aged 0 to 12 years, *In Vitro*. AstraZeneca R&D Mölndal, Sweden. 26 September 2013.

VKS0826

VKS0826: Ticagrelor: Ticagrelor and AR-C124910XX XX Metabolism in Liver Microsomes from Rats of Various Ages. Huntingdon Life Sciences Cambridgeshire, England. 1 June 2011.

VKS0827

VKS0827: Ticagrelor: Provision of Liver and Plasma from Rats for use in Plasma Protein Binding and Metabolic Stability Studies with Ticagrelor and its Metabolite AR-C124910XX XX XX. Huntingdon Life Sciences Cambridgeshire, England. 30 March 2011.

YAT/265

YAT/265: Ticagrelor: Determination of the In Vitro Plasma Protein Binding of Ticagrelor and AR-C124910XX XX XX in Neonatal Rats. York Bioanalytical Solution York, UK. 27 May 2011.